FILED FILED SUPREME COURT Court of Appeals STATE OF WASHINGTON Division II 9/26/2024 State of Washington BY ERIN L. LENNON 9/26/2024 2:28 PM CLERK Court of Appeals Cause No. 58939-7-II Case #: 1035004

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE MATTER OF: THE RECALL OF JAY KINNEY, DAWN JANOW, KEN DEWITT, & JOHN T. (TOM) SWOLGAARD, AS COMMISSIONERS, BAINBRIDGE ISLAND METROPOLITAN PARK & RECREATION DISTRICT

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jay C. Kinney, WSBA #14053 200 Winslow Way W., Ste. 300 Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 Telephone: (206) 623-2300 Telefax: (206) 770-6198 Email: kinney@kinneylawgroup.com *Attorneys for the petitioners -- commissioners*

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Jay Kinney, Dawn Janow, Ken DeWitt and John T. (Tom) Swolgaard are four of the five commissioners on the Bainbridge Island Metropolitan Park & Recreation District (BIMPRD) board. Mr. Kinney (WSBA #14053) is representing himself and the commissioners. Respondent Adam Hunt filed recall charges against them in May 2023. This Court consolidated the four recall cases into one appeal: CP 231-136 (Notice of Appeal in the Recall of Kinney case); CP 340-345 (Notice of Appeal in the Recall of Janow case); CP 448-453 (Notice of Appeal in the Recall of DeWitt case); CP 556-561 (Notice of Appeal in the Recall of Swolgaard case). This Court then remanded the case to the Court of Appeals.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The August 27, 2024 Court of Appeals decision is attached at Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. May an attorney who files five intentionally frivolous recall petitions in bad faith against four public officials, to force them to take a specific action against their discretion, avoid sanctions under *In re Recall of Piper* if he also has a sincere belief that the public officials are not fulfilling their general duties and responsibilities to the community?

2. Is the Court of Appeals "totality of the circumstances" standard for evaluating a sanctions motion consistent with *Piper*?

3. When applying the standards set out in *Piper*, is an examination of the merits of the recall charges a necessary step in deciding a sanctions motion?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Hunt first appeared and spoke at a BIMPRD board meeting on March 2, 2023, demanding that the

commissioners plan and build a new swimming pool while his children were still young enough to enjoy it. CP 641, 722. He soon added a demand that the commissioners plan and build a field house at Sakai Park. CP 652, 723-24. The commissioners did not act fast enough to suit Mr. Hunt, so on May 1, 2023, he filed a recall lawsuit against each commissioner pursuant to Chapter 29A.56.¹ He brought the same five recall charges against each commissioner. The Kitsap County Prosecutor's Office prepared a ballot synopsis, and the Kitsap County Superior Court scheduled a sufficiency hearing pursuant to RCW 29A.56.140 on June 30, 2023.

At a BIMPRD board meeting on May 19, 2023, Mr. Hunt said "there was no need for a recall" and repeated "I am open to a dialogue about dismissal of the recall charges" if

¹ He did not seek to recall the fifth commissioner on the BIMPRD board because that commissioner was willing, at least, to build a new pool. CP 642.

the Board took steps to build the new pool and fieldhouse for

which he advocated. He stated:

I want to get rid of the recall charges, but I can't because you're not talking with us and coming together with/in [sic] the BIMPRD Policy Manual provisions for ad hoc citizen advisory committees that Mr. Lande already proposed. Let's work together and I'll get rid of the stupid recall OK. Let's have a dialogue about that.

CP 732. The Board rejected his quid pro quo:

Commissioner Kinney said speaking for himself he thinks it is very dangerous business to have someone bring a recall charge to force the board to take a specific action. That is over the top. He is not ever going down the road of, do what I want when I want it or I am filing a recall, which is what Adam Hunt has done.

CP 674.

Instead, the commissioners voted for the Park District

to pay for defense counsel pursuant to RCW 4.96.041(3) to

represent them in the expedited court hearings. CP 675.

Less than 24 hours before the commissioners' briefing

was due in those expedited proceedings, Mr. Hunt stipulated

to dismiss all of his charges with prejudice. He later emailed the commissioners an apology:

Commissioners: I'd like to apologize for the correction of my perception that any of your efforts over many years working as unpaid public servants was undertaken with any sort of improper intent and/or intentions. I could have made a different choice to lead with dialogue & partnership versus assumptions and allegations.

CP 854.

Based on the Court's prior recall decisions, the commissioners asked the trial court to award the Park District its defense costs against Mr. Hunt. Briefly, the commissioners pointed out the fatal flaws in every recall charge that no competent attorney would have ignored. The commissioners have broad discretion in overseeing the Park District, and officials cannot be recalled for their discretionary acts absent manifest abuse of discretion. In re *Recall of Sandhaus*, 134 Wn2d. 662, 670, 953 P.2d 82 (1998). This eliminated charges 1 and 2. Mr. Hunt did not identify a legal standard as a basis for charge 3, and if he had, he was required to present facts showing the commissioners intended to commit an unlawful act. Id. at 670; In re Recall of Wade, 115 Wn.2d 544, 549, 799 P.2d 1179 (1990). This eliminated charges 3 and 4. Finally, Charge 5 alleged a violation of the Open Public Meetings Act, RCW 42.30.010 et seq. This speculative charge lacked the factual specificity required. There was nothing in the petition indicating the time or place where the alleged illegal meeting took place. *Cole v. Webster*, 103 Wn.2d 280, 286, 692 P.2d 799 (1984). In addition, if there were a violation of the Open Public Meetings Act, Mr. Hunt presented no facts showing that any of the commissioners intended to violate the law. *Recall of* Sandhaus, 134 Wn2d. at 670. It is important to note that Mr. Hunt apologized to the commissioners and admitted they had done nothing wrong. CP 854.

In his response to the sanctions motion, Mr. Hunt was obligated to "reasonably identify the supporting information and explain how it supports the charges." *In re Recall of Piper*, 184 Wn.2d 780, 789, 364 P.3d 113 (2015). He did not do so. Instead, he attacked the commissioners personally with a great deal of animosity, and talked up his own good faith, classic red herring arguments.

The trial court did not examine the basis of the recall charges at all to determine if they were "intentionally frivolous," the key first step the Court took in *Piper, In re Recall of Lindquist,* 172 Wn.2d 120, 258 P.3d 9 (2011), and *In re Recall of Pearsall-Stipek,* 136 Wn.2d 255, 961 P.2d 343 (1998). Instead, the trial court determined that Mr. Hunt could not be sanctioned unless his *sole* motivation to bring the charges was improper. The court stated:

> In this case, the Court cannot conclude that the petitioner's motivation was solely improper. While petitioner may have had more than one purpose in filing the petition, it cannot be said that he was not also motivated by a sincere belief that the respondents were not fulfilling their duties as elected officials. Accordingly, this court does not need to reach the

matter of whether the recall petitions were without legal or factual sufficiency.

CP **23●**.

The commissioners filed an appeal with the Supreme Court, which transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals published decision is notable for a few reasons. First, the Court came to the mistaken impression that the trial court had indeed examined the recall and "explicitly found that Mr. Hunt did not act in bad faith because he had a sincere belief in the charges underlying the recall petition." Appendix A, p. 8. The trial court actually stated, "this court does not need to reach the matter of whether the recall petitions were without legal or factual sufficiency." CP 230.

Second, the Court of Appeals went on to say that "the case law, read as a whole, shows that in determining whether a petitioner acts in bad faith, the court must examine the totality of the circumstances." Appendix A, p. 8. The Court found (in error) that Mr. Hunt had a long, documented history

of public engagement and activism related to the BIMPRD board; and truly believed the Commissioners were not fulfilling their duties and responsibilities to the community.² Appendix, p. 8 . On this basis, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's denial of the commissioners' defense costs.

<u>E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED</u>

(1) Tests Established in RAP 13.4(b)

(a) The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the holding and analysis set out in the *Piper, Lindquist* and *Pearsall-Stipek* line of cases.

(b) The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because it involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington, and RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it involves an issue of substantial public

² Mr. Hunt first showed up at a BIMPRD board meeting just two months before he filed his recall petitions. CP 145. Two months is not a long history of involvement.

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The State Constitution guarantees the right of recall, but the 1976 and 1984 amendments to RCW 29.82 "clearly disclose an intent by the Legislature to limit the scope of the recall right and free public officials from the harassment of recall elections frivolous grounded on charges or mere insinuations." Teaford v. Howard, 104 Wn.2d 580, 584, 707 P.2d 1327 (1985). The Court of Appeals decision changes the balance the Court has struck in Piper, Lindquist and Pearsall-Stipek.

(2) <u>The Court of Appeals decision changes the</u> <u>standards and procedures set out in *Pearsall-Stipek*, <u>Lindquist and Piper.</u></u>

The Court of Appeals decision changes the standards and analytic approach set out in the *Pearsall-Stipek*, *Lindquist* and *Piper* line of cases. Both public officials facing recall charges and the citizens who bring them need a clarification of the standards. Litigation is expensive and emotionally draining for both sides. The rules must be clear.

(a) Bad faith is inherent in filing a knowingly frivolous recall petition to create leverage for a quid pro quo.

There is never a good reason for a recall petitioner to intentionally file a knowingly frivolous recall petition. Bad faith is inherent in the action. Mr. Hunt's community concerns should not outweigh his political tactics. It is one thing to advocate for change. It is another to file four frivolous recall petitions and then offer to withdraw them to force four public officials to change their discretionary decisions.

The Court in *Pearsall-Stipek, Lindquist* and *Piper* set out a procedure for trial courts to follow when deciding upon sanctions. First, the trial court must analyze the basis of the charge to determine if it is "intentionally frivolous." If it is, then the court may impose sanctions if it finds that the petitioner had a bad faith motive for the action. Examples of bad faith motives in these cases include:

- Repeated and wholly meritless efforts to recall the official. *Pearsall-Stipek*, 136 Wn.2d at 267.
- Filing the charge directly before an election; making a serious, baseless allegation; refusing to respond to discovery and explain their motivation; misquoting case law; refusal to attend the sufficiency hearing; refusal to respond to discovery. *Lindquist*, 172 Wn.2d at 137-138.
- Filing the charge with no real intent to successfully recall the official; filing to force an official to retire and thus reshape the PUD board; acknowledging that the charges were not based on any misconduct; repeated and wholly

meritless efforts to recall the official. *Piper*, 184 Wn.2d at 791.

Surely, the recall petitioners in these cases would say that they were concerned citizens with a sincere belief that the elected officials were not fulfilling their duties and responsibilities to the community. The decisions in *Pearsall-Stipek, Lindquist* and *Piper* give no indication that the recall petitioner's community concerns could outweigh the bad faith inherent in intentionally filing known frivolous charges. There was no examination of the totality of the circumstances in these cases. There was no requirement (as the trial court used here) that the petitioner's motivation be "solely improper." The Court of Appeals decision is a clear change in the law.

The trial court and the Court of Appeals did not follow the procedure set out in *Pearsall-Stipek*, *Lindquist* and *Piper*. Instead of analyzing the basis of the recall charges, the lower courts accepted an exculpatory excuse. The Court of Appeals decision makes it virtually impossible for a local governmental body to recovery defense costs against someone who files an intentionally frivolous recall petition for purposes of political harassment or leverage because that person can always assert a "sincere belief" sufficient under the lower court's ruling to avoid responsibility for their frivolous filing.

(b) The Court of Appeals decision establishes that filing a recall petition to create political leverage is acceptable.

The Court of Appeals stated that "... Hunt's conduct in filing the recall petitions, even as part of an ongoing campaign to inspire change in the Board's decisions, did not rise to the level of bad faith demonstrated in *Lindquist* and *Piper*." Appendix A, p. 8. In other words, filing a frivolous recall petition to create political leverage is excusable. This will certainly give rise to an increase in recall cases throughout our State.

In *Piper*, the Court found the recall petitioners were in bad faith because they did not have a real intent to remove Piper from office. Mr. Hunt did not intend to remove the four commissioners from office. He just wanted to direct policy. In the future, recall petitioners across the State who disagree with a policy decision by local government can depend on the Court of Appeals decision to immunize them in similar situations under the totality of the circumstances standard.

(c) A lack of a sincere belief in the sufficiency of the recall charges is evidence of a bad faith motive.

The Court of Appeals noted:

Our Supreme Court's language in *Piper* indicates that bad faith is being "motivated by something other than a sincere belief in the sufficiency of the recall charges." 184 Wn.2d at 791. The natural implication from the Supreme Court's language is that

one cannot act in bad faith if they are motivated by a sincere belief in the sufficiency of the recall charges.³

Appendix A, p.8. A positive statement of this rule would be, one acts in bad faith if they do not have a sincere belief in the sufficiency of the recall charges. The existence of this sincere belief should be based on an objective standard. *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.,* 119 Wn.2d 210, 220, 829 P.2d. 1099 (1992).

The commissioners' briefs established that the recall charges were baseless and no reasonably competent attorney would have filed them. In his responses in both the trial court and the Court of Appeals, Mr. Hunt was obligated to "reasonably identify the supporting information and explain how it supports the charges." *Piper*, 184 Wn.2d at 789. He did not do so. The Court should make it clear that a recall petitioner is required to explain the legal and factual basis of

³ The language in *Piper* echoes the language in *Pearsall-Stipek:* "... Mr. Bennett's persistence suggests that he may be motivated by spite rather than by a sincere belief in the sufficiency of the recall charges." 136 Wn.2d at 267.

the charges in every case. Bad faith will be established if the recall petition is unable or unwilling to justify filing a frivolous recall petition (as is the case here). CP 854; *Lindquist*, 172 Wn.2d. at 138. The trial court and the Court of Appeals decisions relieved Mr. Hunt of this showing. The Court of Appeals decision sets a precedent where such a showing is unnecessary. A change of this magnitude should come from the Supreme Court.

F. CONCLUSION

This case raises critical statewide issues about the standards and analytical steps in the imposition of sanctions in frivolous recall cases. The Court of Appeal's decision to adjudicate the existence of a bad faith motive under the "totality of circumstances" test, without an examination of the basis for the recall charges as was done in *Pearsall-Stipek, Lindquist* and *Piper,* is a stark departure from Supreme Court precedents. The Supreme Court should make

this change, if it is warranted – not the Court of Appeals. Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(3) and (b)(4).

This Court should accordingly:

- Reverse the Court of Appeals and unequivocally confirm for our State's elected officials, recall petition filers and superior courts that *Pearsall-Stipek, Lindquist* and *Piper* remain the law of our State without being effectively overridden or nullified by the "sincere belief" immunity theory applied by the lower court's published decision;
- 2. Remand to the superior court for the damages amount determinations the commissioners have requested; and
- 3. Award attorney's fees and cost on appeal to the commissioners.

RAP 17.17(b) & (c)(1) Word Limit Certification:

I certify that this Petition for Review, exclusive of words contained in appendices, the title sheet, the table of contents, the table of authorities, the certificate of compliance, the certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images (e.g., photographs, maps, diagrams, and exhibits) contains 3278 words (not more than 4000).