FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/28/2024 4:18 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 103,500-4

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

IN THE MATTER OF THE RECALL OF JAY KINNEY, et al.,
Commissioners,
Bainbridge Island Metropolitan Park & Recreation District

Kitsap County Superior Court Nos.
23-2-00858-18 (Kinney), 23-2-00859-18 (Janow),
23-2-00860-18 (DeWitt), and 23-2-00861-18 (Swolgaard)
Court of Appeals No. 58939-7-II (consolidated)

**RESPONDENT'S
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

W. Adam Hunt, WSBA #54529
(appearing *pro se* in these
recall proceedings)

14320 Komedal Road, NE
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
Tel. (206) 842-4243
wadamhunt@icloud.com

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

V. REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW

The Petition for Review failed to satisfy any of the factors required for this Court to grant discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Therefore, it cannot be granted.

There is no conflict as required for RAP 13.4(b)(1)⁴. The Petition attempts to misleadingly manufacture a conflict by deliberately distorting key facts as well as this Court's controlling recall cases. Unlike the Petition, both lower court rulings correctly set forth the legal and statutory framework applicable in recall proceedings.

The Petition also fails to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(3) as it failed to set forth a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington. The superior court engaged in a fact-specific review of Coach Hunt's conduct, and a unanimous Division II decision found no abuse of discretion.

Finally, the Petition failed to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(4). As evidenced by Commissioner Kinney's personal appearance on

⁴ The Petition did not attempt to argue or address RAP 13.4(b)(2).

behalf of the Elected Commissioners for the first time in these proceedings to personally seek sanctions, the only substantial interest in these proceedings at this stage is personal not public.

A. Division II's Opinion that the Superior Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion Denying the Commissioners' Sanctions Motion Is Consistent With This Court's Cases

The Petition incorrectly asserts Division II's decision is a clear change in the law. This could not be further from the truth. This Court's controlling recall cases make clear that costs (including attorney fees) incurred to litigate the statutory sufficiency of recall petitions is the responsibility of each party. This framework is overridden only if a superior court enters findings the charges "are intentionally frivolous and filed in bad faith." *In re Piper*, 184 Wash. 2d at 787 (internal citations omitted). Nothing in Division II's unanimous opinion conflicts with this Court's limited universe of controlling recall cost cases (*Pearsall-Stipek*, *Lindquist* or *Piper*).

i. No Conflict With Pearsall-Stipek

Division II’s unanimous decision is completely consistent with the opinion by this Court in *Pearsall-Stipek* regarding the award of attorney fees in the recall context. In reversing a superior court’s award of attorney fees to an official subject to recall, the *Pearsall-Stipek* court held that “[i]n the absence of any findings of bad faith, we are compelled to hold that the trial court abused its discretion in awarding attorney fees.” 136 Wn.2d 255, 961 P.2d 343, 349 (1998). Because the superior court made no findings Coach Hunt acted in bad faith, Division II correctly applied the *Pearsall-Stipek* rule.

The Petition’s claims about the burdens of responding to recall petitions are also squarely addressed by Division II’s discussion of *Pearsall-Stipek*. For example, this Court made clear there is a statutory process “requiring judicial review for sufficiency” and that the relevant recall cost statute⁵ “requires

⁵ As noted in Division II’s opinion below, former RCW 29.82.023 was recodified as RCW 29.A.56.140 in 2003. Opinion at 4, n.1.

the trial court to determine the sufficiency (including frivolousness) of a recall petition without cost.” *Id.*

Division II also correctly cited the critical distinction articulated in the *Pearsall-Stipek* decision between “merely frivolous” recall petitions (*i.e.* recall petitions found to lack the required legal and factual sufficiency following the statutory sufficiency hearing) and “intentionally frivolous recall petitions brought for the purpose of harassment.”⁶ While the superior court cannot award expenses and attorney fees if a recall petitioner brings a “merely frivolous recall petition” (*i.e.*, if the superior court finds the recall charges lack the required legal and/or factual sufficiency in its statutory recall decision), “[b]oth CR 11 and our inherent equitable powers authorize the award of attorney fees in cases of bad faith.” *Id.* In other words, “attorney fees may be awarded against a petitioner who brings a recall petition in bad faith.” *Id.*

⁶ Coach Hunt’s recall charges have not been held frivolous in any way.

Importantly, the result reached in *Pearsall-Stipek* (reversing an award of attorney fees for an elected official) occurred even where the *pro se* recall petitioner in the case “conceded at oral argument that he has made the same charges, based upon the same facts” as those brought in earlier recall petitions by another voter which the [superior court] had previously held to be insufficient. *Id.* at 346.

Division II’s opinion correctly noted “*Pearsall-Stipek* recognized that the petitioner’s actions suggested ‘that he may be motivated by spite rather than by a sincere belief in the sufficiency of the recall charges.’” Opinion at 4. After noting the “misrepresentation of the superior court’s order” made by counsel for the Elected Commissioners in these proceedings, the Division II opinion went on to affirm Coach Hunt’s “sincere belief in the charges underlying the recall petition.” *Id.* at 5-6.

ii. No Conflict With Lindquist or Piper

The Division II decision is also entirely consistent with this Court’s two more recent recall cost cases—*Lindquist* and

Piper. The list of egregious conduct by the petitioners in those cases could not be further from the extensive evidence of Coach Hunt's good faith intentions, integrity and actions in the record developed below. It is therefore unremarkable that Division II held Coach Hunt's conduct in the recall proceedings "did not rise to the level of bad faith demonstrated in *Lindquist* and *Piper*." *Id.* at 6.

The litany of sanctionable conduct by the recall petitioners outlined in *Lindquist* include: (i) failing to conduct a reasonable inquiry into the legal and factual bases for the recall petition charges; (ii) refusing to attend legal proceedings related to the recall charges, including on the merits of the recall petition they had filed; (iii) refusing to produce documents or to answer questions under oath about motivations for filing the recall; and (iv) admitting the recall petitioner knew identical recall charges "had been dismissed for lack of legal and factual sufficiency when he filed the recall petition." 172 Wash. 2d at 125.

In stark contrast to the *pro se* petitioners in *Lindquist*, Coach Hunt expressly declined to file recall charges against the fifth commissioner on the BIMPRD Board “due to (i) the upcoming election for his seat on the BIMPRD Board” (approximately 6 months later). CP 9 at n.1. Coach Hunt also appeared in person before the superior court to directly articulate his good faith intentions and motivations for filing recall charges. *See generally*, VRP. And there is objective record evidence of the extensive due diligence that Coach Hunt performed prior to filing the individualized recall charges. *See, e.g.*, CP 922.

Any allegations that Division II failed to follow *Piper* are equally misplaced. In *Piper*, the petitioners (i) signed and filed a recall petition that was a near-verbatim copy of a censure resolution and had been “dropped in the mail slot of [a] barber shop”; (ii) “made no attempt, reasonable or otherwise, to obtain any factual information to support the allegations of the recall petition”; (iii) “failed to conduct a reasonable inquiry”; (iv)

showed a “cavalier and reckless attitude to the recall and the court process”; (v) “had previously filed an unsuccessful recall petition against [the official]; and (vii) “admitted that the purpose of the recall petition was not to successfully recall [the official]...” 184 Wash. 2d at 791. Comparing the circumstances in *Piper* to Coach Hunt’s conduct here, Division II properly held “the superior court did not abuse its discretion in determining that Hunt did not act in bad faith.” Opinion at 7.

**B. The Petition Failed to Establish a Significant
Question of Law Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3)**

While the Petition does not clearly identify which argument attempts to establish the applicability of RAP 13.4(b)(3), the effort fails because no significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington is implicated by the Division II decision in these proceedings.

Instead, the Petition includes legal claims that are demonstrably false. For example, according to the Petition “[s]urely, the recall petitioners in these cases [*Pearsall-Stipek*,

Lindquist, and *Piper*] would say that they were concerned citizens with a sincere belief that the elected officials were not fulfilling their duties and responsibilities to the community.” Petition at 13. This Court’s decisions directly rebut this claim. *See, e.g.*, *Piper*, 184 Wash. 2d at 791 (recall petitioner “admitted that the purpose of the recall petition was not to successfully recall [the official]” and “that the recall petition was ... not based on any misconduct by [the official]”); *see also Lindquist*, 172 Wash. 2d at 125-126 (recall petitioner admitted to knowing charges against the official “had been dismissed for lack of legal and factual sufficiency when he filed the recall petition...”).

**C. There Is No Substantial Public Interest in
the Personal Agendas Advanced by the
BIMPRD Commissioners to Sanction
Coach Hunt**

Coach Hunt is currently an unpaid flag football coach who is being threatened with legal bills of over \$200,000 incurred by Commissioners’ prior counsel at Foster Garvey.

The personal vendettas of the Elected Commissioners do not warrant a grant of discretionary review under 13.4(b)(4). Coach Hunt has also personally spent hundreds of hours responding to these personal attacks over the past 18 months, including being compared to a criminal arsonist by Commissioners' counsel.

VI. PETITION VIOLATED RAP 18.9(A)

The only evidence of bad faith, sanctionable conduct in these recall proceedings are actions taken by Commissioners' counsel who who signed and filed the frivolous Petition.

A. Improper Omissions of Documentary Evidence in the Petition Constitute Procedural Bad Faith

As this Court explained in *Lindquist*, “[m]isquoting or omitting material portions of documentary evidence constitutes procedural bad faith sufficient to award attorney fees.” 172 Wn. 2d at 136 (internal citation omitted). The Petition is replete with such improper omissions, including the complete context of Coach Hunt's actual public comments, emails and other record evidence in the proceedings. *See* Section IV, *supra*.

**B. Commissioners' Counsel Waived Argument
Required to Impose Sanctions on Coach Hunt**

As stated in *Piper*, “[t]o impose CR 11 sanctions when a recall petition lacks factual or legal sufficiency, the court must find that the attorney who filed the complaint failed to conduct a reasonable inquiry into the factual and legal basis of the claim.” 184 Wash. 2d at 790 (internal citation omitted). The record is devoid of any discussion, citations or arguments by Commissioners’ counsel of how the recall petitions filed by Coach Hunt failed to meet the reasonable inquiry standard as required for a superior court to impose CR 11 sanctions on a *pro se* recall petitioner until after the issue was raised by Coach Hunt in Division II. *Compare* Amended Brief of Respondent at 35, 51-55; Consolidated Reply Brief at 16-18. Since the Petition could not have resulted in a reversal of the lower court’s ruling, it violates RAP 18.9. *See Stiles v. Kearney*, 168 Wash. App. 250, 267 (2012) (internal citation omitted)).

VII. CONCLUSION

We live in a democracy, not a dictatorship. This entitles citizens of our state to make public comments, rally the community to attend public meetings, write letters to the editor, and to seek the recall and removal of elected officials when they have a sincere belief in the sufficiency of recall charges.

Disagreement by elected officials over a citizen's good faith decision to seek their recall and removal—no matter how deeply held their personal views—does not entitle their counsel to misrepresent material facts, ignore controlling case law, the statutory recall framework, or our state constitution.

Coach Hunt has spent hundreds of hours over the past 18 months successfully defending his personal and professional reputation against egregious allegations made by taxpayer-funded private counsel on behalf of the Elected Commissioners. The only evidence of bad faith and harassment before this Court is conduct by Commissioners' counsel. This campaign of intimidation must end with denial of discretionary review.

Certificate of Compliance - RAP 18.17(b).

The undersigned certifies this document contains 5,000 words according to the word count calculation of the word processing software used, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.